DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE **COPY** No. 19-0347

In the

Supreme Court of Appeals Of West Virginia

ASCENT RESOURCES - MARCELLUS, LLC,

JUL - 3 2019

Petitioner,

٧.

No. 19-0347

ROY D. HAUGHT and BETTY HADLEY,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ASCENT RESOURCES - MARCELLUS, LLC

On Appeal from Civil Action No. 16-C-25-c in the Circuit Court of Tyler County, West Virginia

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred in denying Petitioner's motion for summary judgment and declining to declare that Petitioner has an implied right to pool and unitize an existing oil and gas lease that is silent on the subject. The issue is one of first impression and creates a split of authority between two circuit court judges in the Second Judicial Circuit.
- 2. The Circuit Court erred in finding that "[t]here is no evidence that the [Petitioner] cannot develop the minerals underlying the tract at issue in the absence of pooling and unitization" because the uncontroverted evidence in the record is to the contrary.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred by concluding that it should not determine the customary terms and conditions for pooling and unitization to govern the contractual relationship between the parties because existing case law provides otherwise.
- 4. The Circuit Court erred in its determination that it did not have (or would not) exercise its inherent equitable powers to establish common law, instead delegating that authority to the Legislature.
- 5. The Circuit Court erred in determining, contrary to the uncontroverted evidence, that the implied right to pool and unitize is not necessary for the development and production of the subject minerals and that an implied covenant would "materially alter the terms of the . . . Lease without fair consideration for such terms."

- 6. The Circuit Court erred in finding, with no evidentiary support, that an implied covenant of pooling and unitization would place an undue burden upon the oil and gas estate that was never contemplated by the original parties to the lease.
- 7. The Circuit Court erred in finding, without evidentiary support, that "[a]bsent the Plaintiff's assertion to the contrary, the record is devoid of any evidence that oil and gas are not being developed, in violation of the contractual terms, without the Court recognizing an implied right to pool and unitize."
- 8. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that it would "overturn more than a century of the state's common law" if it found an implied covenant to pool and unitize.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court erroneously denied Petitioner Ascent Resources – Marcellus, LLC's ("Ascent") Motion for Summary Judgment by failing to employ the uncontested facts to declare that Ascent has an implied right to pool an oil and gas lease with other mineral interests in order to develop the oil and gas in the Marcellus shale formation where the oil and gas lease is silent on the issue of pooling.

I. Factual Background.

Respondents collectively own a 50% interest in an oil and gas mineral estate in and under a 94-acre tract in McElroy District, Tyler County, West Virginia. Record Appendix ["Apx."] at 3-5. Respondents' predecessor in interest executed an oil and gas lease dated February 6, 1980, with D. & H. Oil Company ("Lease"), granting D. & H. Oil Company the right to drill wells on

the leased premises and to produce oil and gas. Apx. at 10-12.¹ Ascent owns the other 50% interest in the oil and gas and is also the successor in interest to the Lease. Apx. at 4. Thus, Ascent currently holds the right to drill wells and produce oil and gas. However, the Lease is silent as to whether Ascent has the right to pool or unitize² the Lease with other mineral interests as necessary to drill horizontal wells in the Marcellus shale formation. Apx. at 5.

Oil and gas cannot be produced economically from the Marcellus shale formation unless drilling units are formed large enough to accommodate a horizontal well bore at least 2,500 feet in length. Apx. at 59. Production of the oil and gas in the Marcellus shale formation will entail the extraction of oil and gas from long, relatively thin strands of fine-grained sedimentary shale. Apx. at 58-59; *see also* Itzchak E. Kornfeld, 116 W. VA. L. REV. 865, 866, 903, 906 (Spring 2014). Traditional vertical wells cannot reach enough of the shale formation to make the extraction of oil and gas economically viable. Apx. at 59. Horizontal drilling, in contrast, allows the shale formation to be hydraulically fractured along the entire length of a horizontal well bore. *Id.* The longer well bore facilitates production that is sufficient to make extraction of the oil and gas economically feasible. *Id.*

The 94-acre Lease tract is insufficient to support the drilling of a horizontal well bore of sufficient length to make production economically feasible. *Id.* The oil and gas tract must necessarily be combined – or pooled – with mineral interests in other tracts and developed as a

¹ "[D]o grant, demise, lease and let [the Lease premises] for the purposes of mining and operating for oil and gas, and of building tanks, stations, power plants, water stations and structures thereon to take care of said products, and of laying pipe lines on, over and across the leased premises and other lands of Lessors, for the purposes of conveying oil, gas, steam or water therein from and to wells and pipe lines on the premises and on adjoining and adjacent farms, and rights of way for road ways over this and other lands of Lessors..."

² Technically, "pooling and unitization" are different. Pooling is the combination of small tracts of surface acreage to create a larger drilling unit for production of oil and gas, while unitization is the joint operation of tracts for production of oil and gas and usually relates to working interests. Both pooling and unitization allow for drilling and operating a well or wells to extract oil or gas from multiple tracts. See, Patrick H. Martin and Bruce M. Kramer, Williams & Meyers, Oil and Gas Law, § 901 (LexisNexis Matthew Bender 2014); see also Martin and Kramer, Williams & Meyers, Manual of Oil and Gas Law Terms, pp. 779-781, 1109-10 (LexisNexis Matthew Bender 2006). For purposes of this appeal, there is no reason to distinguish the two concepts. To avoid being cumbersome, Ascent uses the term "pooling" to mean both pooling and unitization, individually and collectively.

single drilling unit to provide the length required for a horizontal well bore. *Id.* Thus, Ascent's ability to exercise its rights under the Lease and to develop the oil and gas depends on its right to pool the Lease with other oil and gas properties.

Ascent submitted the affidavit of Travis McBain, who holds a degree in Energy Management and has over 10 years of experience in the oil and gas industry, in which Mr. McBain attested that the following terms and conditions are customary in the oil and gas industry for pooling:

- 1. Lessee shall have the right to pool, unitize, or combine all or parts of the Leasehold with other lands, whether contiguous or not contiguous, leased or unleased, whether owned by Lessee or by others, at a time before or after drilling, to create drilling or production units.
- 2. Pooling or unitizing in one or more instances shall not exhaust Lessee's pooling and unitizing rights, and Lessee shall have the right to change the size, shape, and conditions of operation of any unit created and to make concomitant changes in payments.
- 3. Lessee shall allocate production from each well in a unit among each of the leases in the unit as a percentage of that leasehold's acreage in the unit compared to the total leasehold acreage in the unit. Lessee shall then pay the royalties specified in each lease based upon the sale price of the production allocated to that lease.
- 4. Drilling, operations in preparation for drilling, production, shut-in production from the unit, or payment of royalty on any part of the unit (including non-Leasehold land) shall have the same effect upon the terms of the Lease as if a well were located on, or the subject activity were attributable to, the Leasehold.
- 5. Lessee shall record among the land records of the county the declaration of pooling and any amendments thereto and attempt to furnish a copy to Lessor or their known successors and assigns, although failure to furnish a copy to any Lessor shall not operate to void or terminate any drilling unit that has been formed.

Apx. at 62-63.

Respondents did not present any affidavits or other evidence to contest the facts regarding the necessity of pooling or the evidence regarding the usual and customary terms of pooling.

II. Procedural Background.

To avoid risking a substantial investment in horizontal wells through a trespass or breach of contract action, Ascent filed a complaint for declaratory judgment on June 8, 2016, requesting a declaratory judgment order that Ascent has the implied right to pool the Lease with other mineral interests upon industry-custom terms and conditions because pooling is necessary for the development of the oil and gas in the Marcellus shale formation. Apx. at 3.

Respondents filed answers denying that Ascent was entitled to the relief sought. Apx. at 14, 21.

Ascent moved for summary judgment on August 18, 2016, and submitted two affidavits in support of its motion to show the necessity of pooling and the customary terms and conditions of pooling. Apx. at 29. Respondents filed a joint response opposing Ascent's motion for summary judgment. Apx. at 80. Respondents acknowledged that they did not offer any facts to create a genuine issue of material fact, noting that the "major concern is a question of law. . . ." Apx. at 84.

On March 4, 2019, the Circuit Court entered an order denying Ascent's motion for summary judgment, which it entered as a final order in accordance with Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Apx. at 158.

The ruling creates a split of authority between the judges in the Second Judicial Circuit.

Chief Judge David Hummel of the Second Judicial Circuit held that there is an implied right to

pool an oil and gas lease that is silent on the subject in *American Energy – Marcellus, LLC v. Mary Jean Templeton Poling, et al.*, Civil Action No. 15-c-34H, (Tyler County, W. Va., Apr. 15, 2016). Apx. at 65. Chief Judge Hummel noted that "[t]he implied right to pool or unitize is necessary for Plaintiff to exercise its rights and to fulfill its responsibilities under [the Lease] utilizing horizontal development" Apx. at 73. Accordingly, "[i]n the absence of pooling and unitization rights, the bargained-for leasehold benefits inuring to the lessor and lessee and their successors and assigns – production of oil and gas and payment of royalties – will be diminished and the purpose and intent of such Lease will be frustrated." *Id.* Chief Judge Hummel concluded under identical circumstances that pooling and unitization were "reasonably necessary" for the development of the minerals, and there was no harm to the oil and gas owners. *See Id.*

The Circuit Court in this case acknowledged that certain implied covenants already exist under West Virginia law and agreed that public policy promotes the development of oil and gas, but stated, without citation of authority, that it "[would] not overturn more than a century of the state's common law." Apx. at 163.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The only facts presented in this case are uncontroverted. To economically produce oil and gas from shale formations, drilling units must be created to accommodate horizontal wells. Because few oil and gas tracts are large enough to accommodate horizontal wells of sufficient length to make production economically feasible, several tracts must be "pooled" (combined) to form an adequately-sized drilling unit.

Some oil and gas leases – including the one at issue here – are simply silent about pooling, neither permitting nor prohibiting it. The question arises whether a lessee can pool such a lease with other oil and gas leases and mineral interests so it can exercise its right to drill for

and produce oil and gas.³ Silence on the pooling issue creates an ambiguity that must be resolved by the courts. The law surrounding implied covenants and implied rights addresses circumstances precisely like this and emanates from the concept that whatever is necessary to the accomplishment of that which is expressly contracted to be done is part and parcel of the contract, though not specified. Implied covenants have been recognized in West Virginia since at least 1902 and as recently as June 2019 and are an integral part of our oil and gas law. The theoretical underpinnings of implied covenants and implied rights – cooperation, good faith and fair dealing, necessity, and public policy – all support an implied right to pool in order for a lessee to exercise the rights expressly granted in an oil and gas lease to drill wells and produce oil and gas.

In denying Ascent's motion for summary judgment, the Circuit Court made two fundamental errors. First, it determined that the Lease was "clear and unambiguous" even though it is silent on the issue of pooling. That error in reasoning was recently recognized by this Court in *Andrews v. Antero*, No. 17-0126, 2019 WL 2494598, at *7 (W. Va. June 10, 2019). Silence in the Lease creates an ambiguity that the court must resolve. Many of the Circuit Court's conclusions were based upon that fundamentally flawed premise. For example, the Circuit Court relied upon the faulty "plain and unambiguous" finding to conclude that it should not determine the customary terms and conditions for pooling because the Lease did not include those terms. And the Circuit Court found – contrary to the only facts submitted – that pooling is not necessary for the development of the oil and gas and determined that an implied right to pool would alter

³ This case involves the rights of the mineral lessee in relation to the mineral lessor. This is not a case involving the correlative rights of a mineral owner in relation to the surface owner. Surface operating rights are not at issue. Even if there is an implied right to pool the Lease, Ascent recognizes that it needs to assure it has the necessary surface operating rights. See EQT Prod. Co. v. Crowder, No. 17-0968, 2019 WL 2414728, at *10 (W. Va. June 5, 2019).

the "plain and unambiguous terms" of the Lease. Apx. at 162-63. The conclusions built upon this faulty foundation must fail.

Second, the Circuit Court failed to consider in its analysis the undisputed fact that pooling the Lease is reasonably necessary for Ascent to develop the oil and gas in the Marcellus shale formation. The only evidence of record demonstrates the Lease must be pooled or unitized with mineral interests in other tracts and developed as a single unit to provide the necessary length required for a horizontal well bore. Apx. at 59. It was thus clear error for the Circuit Court to find that there is no evidence that Ascent cannot develop the minerals underlying the tract at issue without pooling. Apx. at 162. The failure to adopt the only facts of record also led the Circuit Court to erroneously determine pooling is not necessary because "the record is devoid of any evidence that Subject Minerals are not being developed ... without [an implied right to pool]," apparently (albeit unstated) because the parties have "operated without need for clarification for 39 years." Apx. at 161, 163.

Without any evidentiary support, the Circuit Court also erroneously determined that an "implied covenant would place a burden upon the Subject Mineral estate that was never contemplated by the original parties to the Lease and is not reflected in the terms of the agreement." Apx. at 163. Respondents did not present any evidence that a burden would be placed upon the oil and gas estate now owned by the Respondents. The Circuit Court was not at liberty to create one and erred in making such a finding without evidentiary support. Merely because vertical wells were drilled in shallower formations in the past cannot preclude the lessee from drilling and producing oil and gas from other productive formations or, indeed, complying with an implied covenant to develop.

The Circuit Court also posed alternative reasons for denying summary judgment in order to reach a result consistent with its expressed belief that a lessee who wants to pool should have to negotiate a pooling amendment to a lease and pay money for it. For example, the Circuit Court incorrectly determined that interpreting the Lease was not for the Court, but was instead a policy issue for the Legislature. The Court noted the Legislature had addressed forced pooling in proposed and enacted legislation. Apx. at 162. That conclusion ignores the fact here that the Lease already exists. "Forced pooling" addresses situations where there is no oil and gas lease or one signed by fewer than all the mineral owners. That is not the case here. Ascent owns or has under lease 100% of the mineral interests and does not need to "force pool" any third parties. The Circuit Court erred by deferring to the Legislature. The Circuit Court also felt it should not "change" the common law, even though this is a novel issue and the Declaratory Judgment Act provides the mechanism for a court to determine parties' rights under a contract, such as the silent Lease at issue here.

Based on the uncontroverted evidence of record and established law, the Circuit Court should have found that (1) the undisputed facts demonstrate pooling is reasonably necessary to develop the oil and gas in the Marcellus shale formation; (2) the Lease is silent on the issue of pooling; (3) it is the duty of the Circuit Court under the Declaratory Judgment Act to determine the rights and obligations of the parties to the Lease; (4) the principles of cooperation, good faith and fair dealing, and necessity, as well as the long-standing public policy of this State, all support an implied right to pool; and (5) Respondents have shown no substantial burden or harm that would result from pooling. The Circuit Court should have then followed established precedent to determine the terms and conditions upon which pooling would occur – again based

upon the uncontroverted evidence of record. Ultimately, the Circuit Court should have granted Ascent's motion for summary judgment.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Ascent respectfully requests oral argument. This case squarely presents an issue of first impression that has created a split of authority between two circuit judges in the Second Judicial Circuit. Oral argument may aid this Court in reaching a decision.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

This appeal arises from the Circuit Court of Tyler County's denial of Ascent's motion for summary judgment, which the Circuit Court denoted as constituting a final judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Therefore, this action is now ripe for appellate review. W. Va. Code § 58-5-1 (providing that a "party to a civil action may appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals from a final judgment of any circuit court. . . .").

"Generally, findings of fact are reviewed for clear error and conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*. However, ostensible findings of fact, which entail the application of law or constitute legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W. Va. 208, 470 S.E.2d 162 (1996).

"This Court reviews *de novo* the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court." *W. Virginia Dep't of Health & Human Res. v. Payne*, 231 W. Va. 563, 568, 746 S.E.2d 554, 556 (2013).

"If the moving party makes a properly supported motion for summary judgment and can show by affirmative evidence that there is no genuine issue of a material fact, the burden of production shifts to the nonmoving party who must either (1) rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce additional evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial, or (3) submit an affidavit explaining why further discovery is necessary as provided in Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure." Syl. Pt. 3, *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

II. The Facts Of Record – And Only The Facts Of Record – Must Be Utilized In Ruling On The Issues.

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