#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA No. 19-0347

Ascent Resources - Marcellus, LLC, Petitioner,

vs.)

Donald E. Huffman and Triple L Land and Mineral, LLC, Respondents. (An appeal of a final judgment in Tyler County Civil Action No.: 16-C-25)

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF



Counsel of Record for the Respondents, Donald E. Huffman, and Triple L Land and Mineral, LLC

Jeremy B. Cooper WV State Bar ID 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC 6 Loop St. #1 Aspinwall, PA 15215 Tel: (304) 376-0037 Fax: (681) 245-6308 jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

###

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

The Petitioner avers that the Circuit Court was constrained to consider nothing except its own employee's self-serving affidavit in determining whether or not pooling and unitization was necessary to develop the mineral estate. The correct standard, however, written out directly in Rule 56 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, makes it clear that the Court may consider the pleadings in addition to the affidavits. The Petitioner admitted in its own Complaint, as quoted in the preceding paragraph of this Brief, that the lease was already producing. It defies logic for the Petitioner to insist that the Circuit Court pretend that a now 40-year-old lease has failed to produce any oil or gas, contrary to the Petitioner's own representations. If no oil or gas had ever been produced, the lease would have terminated decades ago by its own express language.

The Circuit Court was also correct in determining that it could not impute five paragraphs worth of highly specific rights and obligations to the parties that were clearly never contemplated, nor bargained for, at the time the lease was signed. It is clear from the typewritten, bargained-for provision in the Lease that the original Lessor, Mazie Cunningham, anticipated providing guidance about where on her property the Lessee should sink a well or wells. It is not at all clear, and strains credulity, that she anticipated that her rights to receive compensation for gas produced from her land would be commingled with those of dozens of other landowners.

The Petitioner acknowledges that under the existing express language of the Lease, in the absence of an implied right to pool, the Petitioner could be subject to liability for trespass by using the subject tract to produce from a horizontal well. (Petitioner's Brief, at 22). Yet, the Petitioner seeks to be given the right to do that which it would not otherwise be permitted to do for no additional consideration. This request goes far beyond the legitimate powers of the Circuit Court, and it was wholly proper to deny the requested relief. Furthermore, it was entirely proper for the Circuit Court to find that it would be a burden upon the mineral estate to

unilaterally grant new, un-bargained-for, uncontemplated rights to the Petitioner without compensation to the lessors.

The Petitioner's resort to appellate relief must also fail because its argument before this Court relies on an argument which it omitted in the Court below. While the Petitioner asserted baldly in its Complaint that "courts have the inherent equitable power to determine the rights and obligations of the parties when a contract is ambiguous or silent on an issue," (A.R., at 6), the Petitioner offered no argument below about what aspect of the language of the Lease was ambiguous. The word "ambiguous" appears to be used only once in the memorandum supporting summary judgment: "... whether the Court determines that relief is warranted because there in an implied right to pool or because the Subject Lease is ambiguous..." (A.R., at 50). No assertion was ever made that the Lease was, in fact, ambiguous, and if so, why. The Circuit Court relied on *Cotiga*, *supra*, to find that it had no power to interpret an unambiguous lease. For the first time on appeal, the Petitioner argues that silence on a subject creates an ambiguity. (Petitioner's Brief, at 7, 13). The Petitioner should be foreclosed from advancing that argument now, when it waived that argument before the lower Court. Furthermore, the notion that silence can simply be equated with ambiguity in a contract is belied by the authority.

The Petitioner accuses the Respondents of seeking a "windfall" by renegotiating the lease to permit pooling and unitization in exchange for compensation. (Petitioner's Brief, at 20). Yet the true windfall at issue in this case is that which will be enjoyed by the Petitioner, and other similarly situated leaseholders, if this Court establishes new law having the same effect as rubber-stamping five new paragraphs into every decades-old or century-old lease across the state. What the Petitioner wants is a portfolio of modern leases, sufficient to support a large-

scale horizontal drilling operation in deep shale formations, for 1980's shallow gas prices. That would be a truly magnificent windfall for the Petitioner and its shareholders. Not so for the mineral estate owners of West Virginia. This Court should affirm the Circuit Court's denial of summary judgment.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This Court has already set this matter for Oral Argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Petitioner asserts that this matter is appropriate for disposition as a memorandum opinion, as there are no substantial questions of law, nor prejudicial error.

#### ARGUMENT1

# 1. The Circuit Court appropriately disposed of the Petitioner's motion for summary judgment.

#### A. Standard of Review

The standard of review for a challenge to a lower court's granting of a motion for summary judgment is *de novo*. "A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Furthermore, a motion for summary judgment is to be granted only when "[...]the pleadings, depositions,

The Petitioner's own argument sections do not actually correspond to the enumerated assignments of error, which are at times repetitive and unwieldy. Furthermore, certain assignments of error appear to have no corresponding argument sections whatsoever in the Petitioner's Brief. Specifically, in the Petitioner's Brief, it appears that Argument Sections II, III, and IV all correspond to Assignment of Error #1; Argument Section V appears to correspond to Assignment of Error #3; and Argument Section VI appears to correspond to Assignment of Error #4. No argument section specifically addresses the remaining assignments of error, although they are sporadically addressed throughout the previously-mentioned sections. This manner of briefing by the Petitioner is in violation of Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, and could subject the Petitioner to the sanctions set forth in Rule 10(j), in this Court's discretion.

Each numbered argument section of this Brief corresponds to the assignment of error bearing the same number in the Petitioner's recitation of its assignment of error, in order to comply with Rule 10(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Undoubtedly, the bulk of the Petitioner's contentions are contained within its Assignment of Error #1. It is the Respondent's intent to respond to every argument advanced in the Petitioner's Brief.

answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

Syllabus Point 5 of Jividen v. Law, 194 W.Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995) states that:

Roughly stated, a "genuine issue" for purposes of West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) is simply one half of a trialworthy issue, and a genuine issue does not arise unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that party. The opposing half of a trialworthy issue is present where the non-moving party can point to one or more disputed "material" facts. A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law.

Id. Further, this Court has held, in Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W.Va. 99, 105, 464 S.E.2d 741, 747 (1995), that:

The burden of showing that no genuine factual dispute exists rests on the party seeking summary judgment; in assessing the record to determine whether there is a genuine issue as to any material facts, the circuit court is required to resolve all ambiguities and draw all factual inferences in favor of the party against whom summary judgment is sought. The inferences to be drawn from the underlying affidavits, exhibits, answers to interrogatories, and depositions must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.

Id.

In short, the burden is upon the moving party to demonstrate that there is no fact in question that could sway the outcome of a trial, and that burden must be met in the face of the trial court resolving questions of fact, as contained in the motion, response, and appendices, in favor of the non-moving party. A non-moving party is not required to be responsive to issues that are not raised in a motion for summary judgment; therefore, while the non-moving party bears a burden to demonstrate sufficient evidence to support the existence of a factual question upon which a verdict could be reached at trial, it is only required to do so on those issues raised

by the moving party. See, Costello v. Grundon, 651 F.3d 614 (7th Cir., 2011).

In determining whether to grant a motion for summary judgment, this Court has held that a trial court should consider the entire record.

2. "On a motion for summary judgment all papers of record and all matters submitted by both parties should be considered by the court." Syl.Pt. 2, *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963).

Ramey v. Ramey, 395 S.E.2d 230, 183 W.Va. 230 (1990).

Rule 56(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure reads as follows: "For defending party. — A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought may, at any time, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in the party's favor as to all or any part thereof."

The applicable standard of review for an appeal of a declaratory judgment action is set forth as follows:

We have stated previously that: "A circuit court's entry of a declaratory judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 3, Cox v. Amick, 195 W.Va. 608, 466 S.E.2d 459 (1995). As the Cox Court explained, "because the purpose of a declaratory judgment action is to resolve legal questions, a circuit court's ultimate resolution in a declaratory judgment action is reviewed de novo." Id. 195 W.Va. at 612, 466 S.E.2d at 463. Of course, the circuit court's ultimate resolution in the instant case was to dismiss the action.

In a more recent case citing Cox, supra, we also noted the standard we apply to the factual findings of a lower court in such actions:

This Court has said that the standard of review for declaratory judgment is de novo. We have also said that, in those cases, "any determinations of fact made by the circuit court in reaching its u ltimate resolution are reviewed pursuant to a clearly erroneous standard."

Mountain Lodge Ass'n v. Crum & Forster Indem. Co., 210 W.Va. 536, 545, 558 S.E.2d 336, 345 (2001) (quoting Cox v. Amick, 195 W.Va. 608, 466 S.E.2d 459 (1995)) (internal citations omitted).

Willard v. Whited, 566 S.E.2d 881, 211 W.Va. 522 (2002). Thus the Petitioner asserts that the Circuit Court's legal conclusions should be subject to *de novo* review, and its underlying factual findings should be reviewed for clear error.

#### B. The Petitioner is not entitled to summary judgment.

### i. The relief sought by the Petitioner is outside the scope of permissible relief available in construing an unambiguous contract.

The Circuit Court's reasoning in denying summary judgment to the Petitioner was sound, in all respects. First, the scope of appropriate judicial intervention in a contract in a declaratory judgment action forbids the outcome sought by the Petitioner.

- 1. "A valid written instrument which expresses the intent of the parties in plain and unambiguous language is not subject to judicial construction or interpretation but will be applied and enforced according to such intent." Cotiga Development Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co., 147 W.Va. 484, 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962), Syllabus Point 1.
- 2. "It is not the right or province of a court to alter, pervert or destroy the clear meaning and intent of the parties as expressed in unambiguous language in their written contract or to make a new or different contract for them." Cotiga Development Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co., 147 W.Va. 484, 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962), Syllabus Point 3.

Syl. Pts. 1 and 2, Bennett v. Dove, 166 W.Va. 722, 277 S.E.2d 617 (1981). There is no ambiguity in the Lease concerning the nature or scope of pooling and unitization to take place under the Lease. There is simply no agreement to pool and unitize at all. "An oil and gas lease which is clear in its provisions and free from ambiguity, either latent or patent, should be considered on the basis of its express provisions and is not subject to a practical construction by the parties."

Syl. Pt. 3, Little Coal Land Co. v. Owens-Illinois Glass Co., 135 W.Va. 277, 63 S.E.2d 528 (1951). "The mere fact that parties do not agree to the construction of a contract does not render it ambiguous. The question as to whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law to be

determined by the court." Syl. pt. 2, Supervalu Operations v. Center Design, 206 W.Va. 311, 524 S.E.2d 666 (1999).

As noted by the Circuit Court, there was no effort by the Petitioner to describe how, or why, the Lease was ambiguous. The Petitioner asserts, for the first time on appeal, that silence is equivalent to ambiguity. (Petitioner's Brief, at 7, 13). This is despite the fact that the Petitioner presented "silence" and "ambiguity" in the disjunctive in its Complaint: "19. Further, courts have the inherent equitable power to determine the rights and obligations of the parties when a contract is ambiguous or silent on an issue." (A.R., at 6) (Footnote omitted, emphasis added). The Petitioner's memorandum in support of summary judgment suggested no reason why the Lease was ambiguous, with the only mention of the word "ambiguous" in the following clause: "... whether the Court determines that relief is warranted because there in an implied right to pool or because the Subject Lease is ambiguous..." (A.R., at 50).

No effort was made to demonstrate that the Lease was ambiguous in a manner that would permit a modification by means of declaratory judgment. The Petitioner failed to make a sufficient case below. It should not be permitted to present this theory for the first time now on appeal:

Our general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions . . . raised for the first time on appeal, will not be considered. Shaffer v. Acme Limestone Co., Inc., 206 W.Va. 333, 349 n. 20, 524 S.E.2d 688, 704 n. 20 (1999)."

Noble v. W. Va. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 223 W. Va. 818, 821, 679 S.E.2d 650, 653 (2009).

This Court has "long held that theories raised for the first time on appeal are not considered." Clint Hurt & Assoc. v. Rare Earth Energy, Inc., 198 W.Va. 320, 329, 480 S.E.2d 529, 538 (1996). This Court will not consider nonjurisdictional questions that have not been considered by the trial court. Id. See also Crain v. Lightner, 178 W.Va. 765, 771, 364 S.E.2d 778, 784 (1987). "The rationale behind this rule is that when an issue has not been raised below, the facts underlying that issue will not

have been developed in such a way so that a disposition can be made on appeal." Clint Hurt & Assoc. v. Rare Earth Energy, Inc., 198 W.Va. at 329, 480 S.E.2d at 538. "[T]here is also a need to have the issue refined, developed, and adjudicated by the trial court, so that we may have the benefit of its wisdom." Id.

Zaleski v. West Virginia Mut. Ins. Co., 687 S.E.2d 123, 224 W.Va. 544 (2009). (Footnotes and page numbers omitted). Silence as equivalent to ambiguity is a "theor[y] raised for the first time on appeal[.]" per Clint Hurt & Assoc., supra.

Furthermore, on the merits, the underlying basis for this legal theory is inapplicable to the facts of this case. The Petitioner relies on footnote 20 of Andrews v. Antero Res. Corp., 242 W.Va. 39, 828 S.E.2d 858 (2019), which states:

To the extent that neither deed at issue in this matter addresses whether new technology may be used to extract oil and gas, or describes specific burdens that may be placed upon the surface, the deeds are ambiguous. "As a general principle, ambiguities in a deed are to be clarified by resort to the intention of the parties ascertained from the deed itself, the circumstances surrounding its execution, as well as the subject matter and the parties' situation at that time." *Phillips v. Fox.*, 193 W. Va. 657, 662, 458 S.E.2d 327, 332 (1995) (citing 23 Am. Jur. 2d Deeds § 221 (1983)). See also *Kell v. Appalachian Power Co.*, 170 W. Va. 14, 19, 289 S.E.2d 450, 456 (1982) ("In any construction of the language of a deed the intent of the parties is controlling." (footnote omitted)).

Andrews v. Antero Res. Corp., 242 W.Va. 39, 828 S.E.2d 858 (2019), at footnote 20.

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